
  
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
  
2. MINUTES

 2.a. Consideration of the minutes of the December 4, 2024 Plan Commission meeting
 Attachment
  
3. PUBLIC HEARINGS

 3.a. Consideration of Resolution 2024-029 approving the Preliminary Plat of Elmwood
Commons Plat Two

 Attachment

 3.b. Consideration of Resolution 2024-034 approving a Preliminary Plat of Eagles Ridge
Remainder Subdivision

 Attachment

 3.c. Consideration of a Planned Unit Development (PUD) Master Land Use Plan for the
property located at 1400 White Avenue

 Attachment

 3.d. Consideration of Ordinance No. 3859 amending the Zoning District Map of the City of
Beloit for the property located at 1400 White Avenue
Staff Report is included under 3c.

 3.e. Consideration of Ordinance No. 3860 amending the Zoning District Map of the City of
Beloit for the property located at 423 St. Lawrence Avenue

 Attachment

 3.f. Consideration of Resolution 2024-035 approving an exception to Sections 30.09, 30.10,
30.35(2)(c), and 30.42(2)(c) of the Outdoor Sign Regulations for the property located at
2825 Prairie Avenue

 Attachment
  
4. REPORTS

 4.a. Consideration of a one-lot Certified Survey map for the property located at 1452 S
Townhall Road

 Attachment
  

PUBLIC NOTICE & AGENDA
BELOIT PLAN COMMISSION

City Hall Forum - 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511
7:00 PM 

Wednesday, December 18, 2024

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Plan Commission
Meeting Agenda - December 18, 2024

1

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3041308/12-04-2024_Plan_Commission_minutes.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3041850/PC_Report_-_PS-2024-03__Elmwood_Commons_Plat_2.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3041356/PC_Report_-_PS-2024-04__Eagles_Ridge_Remainder_Subdivision.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3040385/PC_Staff_Report_-_PUD-2024-07_and_ZMA-2024-11__1400_White_Avenue.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3041387/PC_Report_-_ZMA-2024-10__423_St._Lawrence_Avenue.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3041854/Staff_Report_SOE-2024-01_2825_Prairie_Avenue_-Mercyhealth.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/3040425/PC_Report_-_CSM-2024-21__1452_S_Townhall_Road.pdf


5. STATUS REPORT ON PRIOR PLAN COMMISSION ITEMS
Annexation - Murphy Woods and S Creek Roads
Architectural Review Exception - 1731 Cranston Road

  
6. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS

Final Plats for Elmwood Commons and Eagles Ridge
Permanent Zoning for 1990 E Bradley
 
 

  
7. ADJOURNMENT

** Please note that, upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs
of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services. For additional information to request this service, please
contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511.

 

 Plan Commission
Meeting Agenda - December 18, 2024

2



 

1 | P a g e  
 

 
MINUTES 

PLAN COMMISSION 
City Hall Forum - 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 

7:00 PM 
Wednesday, December 4, 2024 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

Chairperson Ramsden called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM. Commissioners Ramsden, 
Winkelmann, Abarca, Flesch, Anderson, and Jacobsen and Councilor Day were present. 
Commissioner Elliott was absent. 
 

2. MINUTES 
2.a. Consideration of the minutes of the November 20, 2024 Plan Commission meeting 

Commissioner Flesch made a motion to approve the Minutes, seconded by 
Commissioner Anderson.  Motion prevailed, voice vote (6-0).  

 
3. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

3.a. Consideration of an exception to Section 34.10 of the Architectural Review and 
Landscape Code for the property located at 1731 Cranston Road 
Community Development Director, Julie Christensen, presented the staff report and 
recommendation. 

 
Commissioner Winkelmann inquired if the standards specifically require the lighting to 
be a specific brightness or type. Ms. Christensen explained that the project developer 
identifies the lighting they desire and ensures it meets the established standards 
before they submit the lighting plan. If it does, City staff approves the plan, and 
engineers later confirm that the lighting identified in the plan has been installed. 
Commissioner Winkelmann then asked whether the lights could be purchased at a 
store like Menards. Ms. Christensen clarified that typically, a professional is hired to 
develop the lighting plan, ensuring the lights are directed downward to avoid light 
pollution. 
 
Chairperson Ramsden asked if the engineers go out after the lighting is installed to 
ensure that the lights meet the lighting standards. Ms. Christensen confirmed that a 
lighting plan, including a photometric analysis, must be submitted but noted that the 
engineers confirm that the light fixtures that were proposed on the plan were installed.  
They do not take light meter out on site and measure the lighting standards. 
Commissioner Flesch noted that the site plan and lighting suppliers can determine the 
brightness and light distribution up to the property line. Commissioner Anderson asked 
if there are provisions for businesses operating only during daylight hours. Ms. 
Christensen responded that there are no such provisions. 
 

3



 

2 | P a g e  
 

Chairperson Ramsden opened the public hearing. 
 
Aaron Nilson, South Beloit, expressed frustration, stating that he keeps hearing he 
needs to spend more money on lighting he doesn't currently have and questioned why 
it is necessary. He emphasized that his primary goal is to attract more customers, hire 
additional employees, and maintain jobs. He noted that his family has been doing 
business in Beloit for 100 years and shared that he has been working for eight months 
to finalize everything. He expressed frustration over the process. 
 
Chairperson Ramsden closed the public hearing. 
 
Commissioner Flesch indicated that they could use wall packs and model their sign 
design after the existing lighting setup, noting they might be surprised by the amount 
of lighting produced when functioning properly. Ms. Christensen added that 
Batterman’s was involved in the process, but the owner was not in favor of adding any 
lighting. 
 
Commissioner Anderson made a motion to deny, seconded by Commissioner 
Jacobsen.   Motion carried, voice vote (6-0). 
 

4. REPORTS 
4.a. Consideration of Resolution 2024-032 approving a two-lot extraterritorial certified 

survey map for the property located on the 4700-4800 block of E Ryan Parkway in 
the Town of Turtle 
Community Development Director, Julie Christensen, presented the staff report and 
recommendation. 

 
Commissioner Abarca made a motion for approval, seconded by Commissioner 
Winkelmann.   Motion carried, voice vote (6-0). 
 

4.b. Consideration of Resolution 2024-031 approving a two-lot Extraterritorial Certified 
Survey Map for the property located at 3918 S Duggan Road in the Town of Beloit 
Community Development Director, Julie Christensen, presented the staff report and 
recommendation. 
 
Commissioner Flesch made a motion for approval, seconded by Commissioner 
Winkelmann.   Motion carried, voice vote (6-0). 

 
5. STATUS REPORT ON PRIOR PLAN COMMISSION ITEMS 

Julie Christensen provided an update on items previously reviewed by the Commission. 
 

4



 

3 | P a g e  
 

6. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 
Julie Christensen outlined the future agenda items. The next meeting is scheduled for 
December 18, 2024.    
 

7. ADJOURNMENT 
Commissioner Winkelmann made a motion to adjourn the meeting, seconded by 
Commissioner Abarca at 7:19 PM.   Motion carried, voice vote (6-0). 

 
 

 
  
Mike Ramsden, Chairperson 

5



REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 
Plan Commission Meeting Date:  December 18, 2024 

Agenda Item:  3.a. 

File Number:  PS-2024-03 

General Information 

 
Applicant: Fehr Graham 
Owner:  NG Kadlec Land, LLC 
Address/Location: 1715 Elmwood Avenue and 2500 Kadlec Drive 
Applicant’s Request: Preliminary Subdivision Plat (56 lots, 1 out-lot, and dedicated right-of-
way) 
 
Staff Analysis 

Proposed Lots: Fehr Graham on behalf of Next Generation Construction, LLC. has submitted the 
attached Preliminary Subdivision of Elmwood Commons Plat Two for the subdivision of 19.26 
acres into 56 lots located on Elmwood Drive, Kadlec Drive, and Elaine Drive. 
 
The attached plat outlines the proposed development, which includes the creation of 45 single-
family lots, 11 multi-family lots, and 1 out-lot. The multi-family residential lots will range in size 
from 10,628 to 21,917 square feet, while the single-family lots will vary between 7,197 and 
20,275 square feet. Out-Lot 1 will cover 93,038 square feet. The total platted area is 19.26 
acres, of which 4.83 acres are zoned R-1A (Single-Family Residential) and 14.43 acres are zoned 
R-2 (Two-Family Residential). A zoning map amendment will be brought forward for R-1B and R-
3 zoning to align with the plat in the near future. This land is located within the School District 
of Beloit and will be serviced by municipal water and sewer. 

 
Proposed Improvements:  The proposed project will include the creation of three new streets: 
Aqua Drive, Westwood Drive, and Mini Drive. These streets will be designed with curb and 
gutter, as well as water and sewer mains to support the development. The plat also includes 
extending Kadlec Drive to connect with Elmwood Drive and extending the existing dead-end 
Elaine Drive. The City of Beloit is proposing to finance up to one million dollars for the extension 
of Kadlec and Elaine Drive from the 2025 Capital Improvement Plan (CIP).  The preliminary plat 
does not currently show any sidewalks. Staff recommends installing sidewalks on both sides of 
the streets..  Additionally, USPS will require cluster mailbox units to serve this development.  
 
Platting Process:  Residential subdivisions require approval of a preliminary or conceptual plat 
followed by a final plat to be recorded. The Plan Commission may approve, conditionally 
approve, or reject any preliminary plat. 
 

6



Surrounding Uses:  As shown on the attached Location Map, there is multi-family residential 
uses to the north and single-family and two-family residential uses to the east and south. To the 
west are industrial and commercial uses within the Town of Beloit. 

 
City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan:  The Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map 
Recommends Established Neighborhood for the subject parcels. The proposed subdivision plat 
is consistent with this recommendation. Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit 
Strategic Goals #3 and #5 by encouraging residential growth with high-quality infrastructure. 
 
Review Agent Comments: A copy of the application was sent to the City of Beloit Staff and 
utility contacts. Below are the comments received from Engineering and Water Resources.   
 

 Water Resources is requesting that utility easements be included on the final 
subdivision plat.  

 Rock County 911 has requested that an alternative name be chosen for Mini Drive, as 
we already have a Minnie Lane within the city. 

 AT&T is inquiring about the locations of utility easements. 
 The Park, Recreation, and Conservation Advisory Commission reviewed the need for 

parkland dedication on November 13, 2024, and voted to recommend against requiring 
land dedication for parks.  
  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of the Preliminary Plat for 
Elmwood Commons Plat Two and an exception from section 12.09(4) of the Subdivision 
Ordinance, subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The Final Plat shall substantially conform to the approved Preliminary Plat with respect 
to the number of lots, lot sizes, and the proposed right-of-way layout. 

2. Sidewalks shall be negotiated as part of the Development Agreement. 
3. An alternative name shall be selected for Mini Drive.  
4. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved 

by the Plan Commission. The Community Development Director may approve minor 
changes administratively. 
 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  Location Map, Preliminary Plat, Application, Public Notice, and Resolution. 

7



 
 

Location Map 

 

8



 9



 10



 

11



12



RESOLUTION 2024-029 
 

APPROVING A PRELIMINARY PLAT 
OF ELMWOOD COMMONS PLAT TWO  

 
WHEREAS, the Plan Commission of the City of Beloit has heretofore held a public 

hearing on December 18, 2024, regarding the 56-Lot Preliminary Plat of Elmwood Commons 
Plat Two (Parcel No. 11340600 and 11330300) in the City of Beloit. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Plan Commission of the City of Beloit 
does hereby approve the Preliminary Plat of Elmwood Commons Plat Two (Parcel No. 11340600 
and 11330300) in the City of Beloit, subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. The Final Plat shall substantially conform to the approved Preliminary Plat with respect to 

the number of lots, lot sizes, and the proposed right-of-way layout. 
2. Sidewalks shall be negotiated as part of the Development Agreement. 
3. An alternative name shall be selected for Mini Drive.  
4. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by 

the Plan Commission. The Community Development Director may approve minor changes 
administratively. 

 
Adopted this 18th of December 2024. 
 

Plan Commission 
 

 
  
Mike Ramsden, Chairperson 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
  
Julie Christensen 
Community Development Director 
 
 

13



REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 
Plan Commission Meeting Date:  December 18, 2024 

Agenda Item:  3.b. 

File Number:  PS-2024-04 

General Information 
 
Applicant: Jeffrey S. Linkenheld, PE on behalf of New Leaf Homes, LLC 
Owner: Luke E Madson Revocable Trust 
Address/Location: 1452 Townhall Road 
Applicant’s Request: Preliminary Subdivision Plat (141 lots, 1 out-lot, and dedicated right-of-
way) 
 
Staff Analysis 
Proposed Lots: Jeffrey S. Linkenheld, PE on behalf of New Leaf Homes, LLC has submitted the 
attached Preliminary Plat of Eagles Ridge Remainder Subdivision for the subdivision of 61.80 
acres located on Townhall Road. 
 
The attached preliminary plat outlines the proposed development, which includes the creation 
of 139 single-family lots and 1 out-lot. The single-family residential lots will range in size from 
11,200 to 24,783 square feet. Out-Lot 8 will be 3.57 acres as a non-buildable stormwater 
management area. The land is zoned R-1A, Single-Family Residential District, located within the 
School District of Beloit, and will be served by municipal water and sewer. 

 
Proposed Improvements: The proposed streets will feature curb and gutter, along with water 
and sewer mains. The plat includes extending Quail Run to connect with E. Colley Road, and 
extending Hawks Pass to a new east-west street named Owl Run on the southern end of the 
proposed subdivision. It will also create three additional streets: Harrier Run, Osprey Way, and 
Kestral Lane. The preliminary plat shows proposed sidewalks throughout, on both sides of Quail 
Run and Harrier Run, on the west sides of Hawks Pass, Osprey Lane, and Kestral Lane, and on 
the south side of Owl Run. Final sidewalk locations will be determined in the Development 
Agreement.   
 
On December 11, 2024, the Park, Recreation & Conservation Advisory Commission voted in 
favor not to require land dedication or a fee in lieu of dedication for the development. Planning 
staff believes additional parkland may be needed to serve this and future residential 
development, but that a more centrally-located area outside of this proposed plat is more 
appropriate, and will be determined in the future. USPS will require cluster mailbox units to 
serve this development. A lift station will be constructed to serve this development on the 
northwest corner of Townhall Road and Colley Road. 
 
Platting Process: Residential subdivisions require approval of a preliminary plat followed by a 

14



final plat to be recorded. The Plan Commission may approve, conditionally approve, or reject 
any preliminary plat. 
 
Surrounding Uses: As shown on the attached Location Map, there are single-family residential 
uses to the north and southwest of the proposed subdivision. To the west and south are 
primarily agricultural uses located within the Town of Turtle. 
 
City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan: The City’s recently adopted Comprehensive Plan 
recommends Planned Neighborhood for the subject property, which is a carefully planned mix 
of single dwelling unit detached or attached, two-dwelling, multi-dwelling buildings, small scale 
business, community facilities, and parks, recreation, and conservancy uses consistent with 
Traditional Neighborhood Design principles and forms of development. The proposed land use 
is consistent with those allowed in an overall Planned Neighborhood. Consideration of this 
request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goals #3 and #5 by encouraging residential growth with 
high quality infrastructure. 
 
Review Agent Comments: A copy of the application was sent to the City of Beloit Staff and 
utility contacts. Below is a comment received from Engineering and Water Resources.   
 

A proposed sanitary sewer easement is shown running through the front yard areas of 
proposed Lots 195-199. Sanitary sewer will need to be installed within the existing Quail 
Run right-of-way down the roadway centerline. The proposed easement running through 
Lots 195-199 should be eliminated. 
 
The applicant indicated that the easement must remain as to not need to replace the road 
adjacent to these lots. However, staff notes that the City does not wish to have the sanitary 
main and manholes within residential front yard areas due to concerns of maintaining and 
repairing the sanitary sewer. Basic maintenance would require a large vactor truck to use 
driveway and yard areas, which would not be designed to bear such weight. Any repair or 
replacement work could require the destruction of lawns, plantings, and driveways, which 
the City would not wish to replace.  

 
This issue will be addressed during plan review. 
   
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of the Preliminary Plat of 
Eagles Ridge Remainder Subdivision in the City of Beloit, subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The Final Plat shall substantially conform to the approved Preliminary Plat with respect 
to the number of lots, lot sizes, and the proposed right-of-way layout.  

2. A draft of any proposed restrictive covenants shall be submitted with the Final Plat.  
3. The applicant shall review the spelling of Kestral Lane and correct as needed (i.e., 

“Kestrel”).  

15



4. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved 
by the Plan Commission. The Community Development Director may approve minor 
changes administratively. 
 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  Location Map, Preliminary Plat, Application, Public Notice, and Resolution. 
 

16



Location Map 
 

 

17



18



19



20



 

21



22



RESOLUTION 24-034 
 

APPROVING A PRELIMINARY PLAT OF EAGLES RIDGE  
REMAINDER SUBDIVISION IN THE CITY OF BELOIT  

 
WHEREAS, the Plan Commission of the City of Beloit has heretofore held a public 

hearing on December 18, 2024 regarding the 139-Lot Preliminary Plat of Eagles Ridge 
Remainder Subdivision (Parcel No. 22830020) in the City of Beloit. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Plan Commission of the City of Beloit 
does hereby approve the Preliminary Plat of Eagles Ridge Remainder Subdivision (Parcel No. 
22830020) in the City of Beloit, subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. The Final Plat shall substantially conform to the approved Preliminary Plat with respect 

to the number of lots, lot sizes, and the proposed right-of-way layout.  
2. A draft of any proposed restrictive covenants shall be submitted with the Final Plat.  
3. The applicant shall review the spelling of Kestral Lane and correct as needed (i.e., 

“Kestrel”). 
4. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved 

by the Plan Commission. The Community Development Director may approve minor 
changes administratively. 
 
Adopted this 18th of December 2024. 
 

Plan Commission 
 

 
  
Mike Ramsden, Chairperson 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
  
Julie Christensen 
Community Development Director 
 
 

23



REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Meeting Date:  December 18, 2024 

Agenda Item:  3.c and 3.d 

File Number:  PUD-2024-07 and ZMA-2024-11 

General Information 

Applicant:  Keira Wilson 
Owner:  Otis Garrett Jr. 
Address/Location:  1400 White Avenue 

Applicant’s Request/Proposal: Keira Wilson has submitted an application for review and 
consideration of a Zoning Map Amendment for the property located at 1400 White Avenue 
from R-1B, Single-Family Residential District to PUD, Planned Unit Development District. The 
applicant has also submitted an application for a Planned Unit Development (PUD) - Master 
Land Use Plan for the subject property. The request is for Retail Sales/Service uses including an 
arts and crafts studio and cafe on the ground floor (The Culture Lounge), and a dwelling unit on 
the upper floor of the existing building. The applicant plans to open the arts and crafts studio 
with do it yourself (DIY) projects and retail use if approved, followed by the café in the future.  

Public Notice: Proper public notice of the proposal was provided including mailed notices to 
property owners within 150 feet of the parcel. As of the writing of this report, no comments 
were received.     

Planned Unit Development (PUD) Process:  A PUD is a type of special purpose zoning district 
and a type of development plan. PUD zoning districts are inextricably linked to PUD plans.  No 
rights of development apply to a PUD zoning designation other than those of the approved PUD 
plan. PUDs are processed in three stages: Master Land Use Plan, Rezoning to PUD district and 
Final (Site) Plan. Master Land Use Plans and Zoning Map Amendments may be processed 
concurrently, provided that no rezoning to the PUD district may occur until approval of a PUD 
Master Land Use Plan. 

Staff Analysis 

Project Summary: The applicant has proposed a reuse for the mixed-use building located at 
1400 White Avenue.  This building was built around 1917 with ground-floor commercial space 
and an upper floor apartment.  The apartment use is active and conforms to the R-1B District; 
however, the ground floor space is vacant and cannot be used for a commercial use under the 
current R-1B zoning.  Records show the previous commercial use was a nail salon that closed in 
2006. Since then, continuance of the commercial component of the building ceased for more 
than 12 months, whereby losing its legal non-conforming status and ability to be reestablished 
without zoning approval.  The current Zoning Ordinance does not generally allow a mix of 

24



commercial and residential uses in the same building other than in the Central Business District 
or through approval of a PUD, which establishes a list of allowed uses.  Typically, a PUD is 
pursued for a new development that has more than one building, a mix of uses, or the need for 
flexibility in zoning requirements such as parking or setbacks.  In this case, the building exists, 
and no substantive changes to the site are being proposed, other than use of an existing 
outdoor patio space in conjunction with the arts and crafts studio and future café.  As such, the 
PUD Master Land Use Plan and (if the Master Land Use Plan is approved) PUD Final Plans are 
atypical in that they do not include detailed site, grading, drainage, utility or landscaping 
information. The PUD in this case is more about the rezoning aspect of the PUD process to 
allow the mix of uses than the plan aspect of the PUD process.  

Surrounding Zoning and Land Use:  The subject property is surrounded by residential 
properties and uses that are all zoned R-1B, Single Family Residential District, making this 
property a prime example of the neighborhood “corner store” described in the Comprehensive 
Plan. 

Review Agent Comments: The proposed Planned Unit Development (PUD) was sent to the City 
of Beloit staff and utility contacts.  They had no comments on the proposed PUD. 

 The Water Resources Division notes that a future café would need a grease trap, but 
that would be addressed through the business permit process.   

PUD Master Land Use Plan Review Criteria:  Applications for a PUD Master Land Use Plan may 
be approved if the following criteria are met: 

1. The plan represents an improvement over what could have been accomplished 
through strict application of otherwise applicable zoning ordinance standards, based 
on the purpose and intent of this chapter.  
Generally, under the current R-1B zoning, the property can be used as a single-family 
residence, bed and breakfast or for certain institutional uses such as a daycare or 
church, but not be used as the building was originally intended with ground floor 
neighborhood commercial space and upper floor housing to serve the neighborhood.  
In order to allow the mix of ground floor neighborhood commercial and upper floor 
housing, a PUD is required in any district other than the Central Business District.   

2. The PUD Master Land Use Plan complies with the PUD district standards of Section 
5-300; 
The proposed PUD will comply with the standards of Section 5-300, which are 
established as detailed in Attachment A - PUD Standards to Be Established. 

3. The City and other service providers will be able to provide necessary public 
services, facilities, and programs to serve the development proposed, at the time the 
property is developed;  
Utilities including sewer and water service already serve the existing building.  
Additionally, the property is located a block from Route 2 of the Beloit Transit System 

25



(BTS), which serves the downtown, Beloit College, the College Park and Merrill 
neighborhoods and generally the near east side.  Lastly, the property is near the 
regional bike system.  Transit, bicycle and pedestrian access can help address the 
mobility needs of all residents, including those that might face particular challenges 
when it comes to transportation, tending to rely more on transit, carpooling, cycling 
and walking, and provide businesses additional customer base from those who cannot 
or choose not to drive. 

4. The development is consistent with and implements the planning goals and 
objectives contained in the Comprehensive Plan and other adopted policy 
documents; and  
The City’s new Comprehensive Plan recommends Established Neighborhood for the 
subject property, which includes already developed, predominately residential areas
with a mix of housing types and, where appropriate in context to the existing 
neighborhood and building format, small-scale neighborhood-oriented mixed-use 
development may occur in structures designed to accommodate a mix of residential and 
commercial within the same structure. Small-scale neighborhood commercial land uses 
are oriented to serve the surrounding neighborhood with commercial uses facing the 
street and are typically found along higher volume traffic roadways and intersections 
(ex. the corner store or small shop), including services, office, and retail. The proposed 
land use is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 

5. The PUD Master Land Use Plan is consistent with sound planning practice and the 
development will promote the general welfare of the community.  
This building like many in the City and across the country was built as a mixed-use 
structure in the early part of the twentieth century (1917) with ground floor 
neighborhood commercial and upper floor housing to serve the neighborhood and 
surrounding area, as many corner stores were prior to WWII.  Often these structures 
allowed the business proprietor to live above their shop.  Since then, zoning practice 
favored homogenous districts with generally single land uses, whereby separating land 
uses into distinct areas (e.g. single-family detached structures from other types of 
single family structures, from two-family structures from multi-family structures from 
commercial structures).  This non-traditional planning approach where uses that were 
once considered compatible and part of the neighborhood fabric has led to 
unintended consequences including racial and economic segregation, inefficient 
development patterns that overly consume land, higher infrastructure development 
costs and maintenance costs for cities, heavy reliance on the automobile, traffic, lack 
of diverse housing options within neighborhoods to accommodate residents at varying 
life stages and lack of investment in buildings such as this that have lost their legal 
non-conforming status and can no longer be used for anything other than what is 
allowed in a single-family district as a result of the downzoning of much of the City 
that occurred a quarter century ago.  The new Comprehensive Plan supports mixed 
use buildings and neighborhoods to include a combination of commercial, residential, 
institutional, and employment on the same property or within the same building to 

26



achieve greater density, concentrations of complimentary uses, and maximize 
underutilized properties. 

Zoning Map Amendment Findings of Fact:  Based on Section 2-304 of the Zoning Ordinance, 
the Plan Commission shall make a recommendation based on the following considerations: 

1. The existing use of property within the general area of the subject property. 
The subject property includes a vacant commercial space on the ground floor and 
existing apartment on the second floor.  The building was built for ground floor 
neighborhood commercial and upper floor housing around 1917 within a predominately 
single-family area that also includes two-family uses. The property was downzoned like 
many in the City more than two decades ago, and subsequently lost its legal non-
conforming status in 2006 that had allowed a neighborhood commercial use on the 
ground floor. The proposal to reuse the building for ground floor neighborhood 
commercial and upper floor residential is consistent with an Established Neighborhood
as designated in the Comprehensive Plan, and consistent with the proposed rezoning to 
PUD.  

2. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the subject property.  
The proposed PUD property is currently zoned R-1B, Single Family Residential District, 
and is surrounded by the same, although a number of two-family uses exist within the 
largely single-family neighborhood surrounding the property.  White Avenue (STH 81), 
which the building fronts on is functionally classified as a principal arterial.  The 
Comprehensive Plan notes that small-scale neighborhood commercial land uses are 
oriented to serve the surrounding neighborhood with commercial uses facing the street 
and are typically found along higher volume traffic roadways and intersections (ex. the 
corner store or small shop), including services, office, and retail. The proposed land use 
is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan.  

3. The suitability of the subject property for the uses permitted under the existing zoning 
classification.  
Under the current R-1B zoning, the property can be used as a single-family residence, 
bed and breakfast or for certain institutional uses such as a daycare or church, but not 
be used as the building was originally intended with ground floor neighborhood 
commercial space and upper floor housing to serve the neighborhood.  In order to 
allow a mix of ground floor neighborhood commercial and upper floor housing, a PUD 
is required in any district other than the Central Business District.  Also, the design and 
construction of the building for single-family use only is impractical. Furthermore, the 
other uses allowed in R-1B generally cannot be mixed in this building, other than in 
the case of a permitted home occupation, whereby the person dwelling in the building 
could use no more than 25% of the space for the permitted home occupation. 
Otherwise, the building would need to either be used for single family only, or a bed 
and breakfast, daycare, church or other single use consistent with the Zoning 

27



Ordinance, but not a combination of uses that would include the upper floor 
apartment.    

4. The trend of development and zoning map amendments in the general area of the 
subject property.  
This area of the City is fully developed and considered Established Neighborhood. There 
have not been recent zoning map amendments as the area is primarily single-family 
residences.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION – PUD MASTER LAND USE PLAN: 
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of the PUD – Master Land 
Use Plan for the property located at 1400 White Avenue, subject to the following condition: 

1. The proposed PUD will comply with the standards of Section 5-300, which are 
established as detailed in Attachment A - PUD Standards to Be Established. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION – ZONING MAP AMENDMENT: 
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of a Zoning Map 
Amendment to change the zoning district classification from R-1B, Single-Family Residential 
District to PUD, Planned Unit Development District, for the property located at 1400 White 
Avenue. 

ATTACHMENTS:  Attachment A - PUD Standards to Be Established, Zoning Map, Google Street 
View Images, Zoning Map Amendment Application, PUD Master Land Use Plan Application, 
Applicant Submittal, Public Notice, Mailing List and Ordinance

28



Attachment A - PUD Standards to Be Established

The PUD Master Land Use Plan for the property located at 1400 White Avenue shall comply 
with the PUD district standards of Section 5-300 established as follows: 

a. Allowed Uses: Allowed uses for the PUD are a mixed-use neighborhood commercial and 
residential building which includes: 

 One existing 828 square foot+/- building and 140 square foot +/- open porch (building 
footprint) with a mix of ground floor neighborhood commercial and an upper floor 
dwelling unit.  Ground floor commercial may include Retail Sales/Service related to an 
arts and crafts studio and cafe. 

 Driveway and driveway parking 
 Outdoor patio area 
 Uses considered ancillary to the allowed uses noted above. 

b. Density/Intensity and Lot Size:  The overall PUD Master Land Use Plan includes the following 
maximum density/intensity and lot size standards and other site attributes: 

 Overall PUD area: 0.052 acres+/- or 2,280 square feet+/- 
 Total area of upper floor residential dwelling unit: 828+/- square feet  
 Total number of upper floor residential dwelling units: 1  
 Total area of interior ground floor commercial space: 828+/- square feet    

c. Setbacks: The existing building has a zero-foot setback from the PUD district’s north and 
west boundary, approximately a 5-foot setback from the south boundary, and 
approximately a 21-foot setback from the east boundary which shall remain for the 
principal structure.  Accessory structures shall be set back three feet from the rear and 
interior side lot lines, and 20 feet from the front and streetside lot lines and meet all other 
applicable ordinances.  

d. Height: The maximum building height is the existing building height at two stories.  

e. Building Coverage: The maximum overall building coverage/footprint is the existing building 
which is approximately 828 square feet plus a 140 square-foot open porch in the back.   

f. Approval Procedures: The PUD is being reviewed under the procedures outlined in Section 
2-400 of the Zoning Ordinance, beginning with review and approval of the Master Land Use 
Plan, followed by a Rezoning to PUD district, and lastly with review and approval of Final 
PUD (site) Plans.  The Master Land Use Plan and Zoning Map Amendment are being 
processed concurrently, however no rezoning to the PUD district may occur until approval 
of a PUD Master Land Use Plan.  Prior to issuance of any building permits, the applicant 
shall obtain PUD Final Plan/site plan and architectural approval as needed.  

29



g. Roadway Access: Roadway access is only from White Avenue.  Two vehicular access points 
are not required, as is the case when 25 dwelling units or 24,000 square feet of 
nonresidential floor space is proposed.   

h. Open Space: Section 5-306 of the PUD ordinance requires that at least 15 percent (340 
square feet) of the gross land area shall be open space. The building covers roughly 36 
percent of the total site, leaving roughly two-thirds of the site open, albeit largely paved.       

i. Preservation of Natural Features:  Mature trees on site (those that measure 6 inches in 
diameter 4 feet above grade) that are healthy and of a desirable species must be preserved 
to the maximum extent possible. 

In addition to the PUD standards established above, the following additional conditions are 
established as part of PUD Master Land Use Plan approval:  

a. Off-Street Parking:  No parking stalls shall be required, although the driveway may be used 
for parking.  The paved terraces shall not be used for parking.  

b. Signage: Two non-internally lit wall signs, one facing White Avenue and one facing Central 
Avenue are approved as part of the PUD Master Land Use Plan.  The signs shall require a 
sign permit and fee and Architectural Review, are not subject to setback or time limits, shall 
not extend more than 12" horizontally from the wall to which they are attached, shall not 
be painted on the wall, shall not exceed 12 square feet each, and shall be located between 
the first and second floors above the store windows (e.g. on the brick). Awnings that are 
historically compatible with the building are permitted provided they meet all codes 
including Outdoor Sign Regulations, Building codes and Architectural Review approval.  
Awning signs are not permitted.   

c. PUD Amendments and Modifications: Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use 
of the property shall be approved by the Plan Commission and City Council by amending 
this PUD – Master Land Use Plan.  The Community Development Director may approve 
minor changes administratively and allow accessory structures and uses, or other 
improvements that comply with and meet all of the standards and requirements of the City 
of Beloit Municipal Code.  

30



City of Beloit Zoning Map

31



Google Street View Images

32



33



34



35



36



Applicant Submittal

37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



ORDINANCE NO. 3859 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE 
ZONING DISTRICT MAP OF THE CITY OF BELOIT 

The City Council of the City of Beloit, Rock County, Wisconsin do ordain as follows: 

Section 1. The Zoning District Map of the City of Beloit, mentioned in the Zoning Code, 

Chapter 19 of the Code of General Ordinances of the City of Beloit, is amended as follows: 

The following described land is hereby changed from R-1B, Single-Family Residential District to 
PUD, Planned Unit Development District: 

LOTS 3 AND 4, MURPHY’S SUBDIVISION OF LOT 10, BLOCK TWO OF STRONG’S THIRD 
ADDITION TO THE CITY OF BELOIT, ROCK COUNTY, WISCONSIN, ACCORDING TO THE 
RECORD PLAT THEREOF, SITUATION IN THE COUNTY OF ROCK AND STATE OF 
WISCONSIN.  CONTAINING 0.052 ACRES OF LAND, MORE OR LESS. A/K/A 1400 WHITE 
AVENUE.  

Section 2.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force upon its passage and 

publication. 

Adopted this ____ day of ___________, 2025. 

City Council of the City of Beloit 

________________________________________ 
Kevin D. Leavy, Council President 

Attest: 

______________________________________ 
Marcy J Granger, City Clerk-Treasurer 

Published this ____ day of _________, 2025 

Effective this ____ day of _________, 2025 

01-611100-5231- 

45



 
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 
Plan Commission Meeting Date: December 18, 2024 

Agenda Item:  3.e. 

File Number:  ZMA-2024-10 

 
General Information 
 
Applicant:  Edgar Mellin 
Owner:  Mellin Rentals 
Address/Location:  423 St. Lawrence Avenue 
Applicant’s Request:  Amend the Zoning District Map from R-1B, Single Family Residential District to R-
3, Low-Density Multifamily Residential District 
 
Staff Analysis 
 
Project Summary:  Edgar Mellin, on behalf of Mellin Rentals has submitted an application for a Zoning 
Map Amendment to change the zoning district classification from R-1B, Single-Family Residential 
District, to R-3, Low-Density Multi-family Residential District, for the property located at 423 St. 
Lawrence Avenue.  
 
Request Details:  The applicant wishes to rezone the property to R-3, Low-Density Multi-family 
Residential District, with plans to use the property as a multi-family residential building. The current 
zoning, R-1B Single-Family Residential District, does not allow for multi-family residential uses. The R-3, 
Low-Density Multifamily Residential District is intended to accommodate up to 25 dwelling units per 
acre and other low-density residential development. 

Surrounding Uses:  To the north, south, east, and west of the subject property are primarily single-
family homes zoned R-1B, Single-Family Residential District.  There are scattered two-family residential 
uses throughout the neighborhood on parcels also zoned R-1B, including in former single-family homes 
that were carved up into multiple units in the past. 
 
City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan:  The property is designated as part of an Established Neighborhood 
in the current Comprehensive Plan, which specifies an already developed predominately residential 
area, with future building types to include single-family dwellings, accessory dwelling units (ADUs), 
two-family dwellings, single-family attached units such as twin homes or townhomes, residential two, 
three, and four-unit flats, small-scale multi-family up to 4 units per building, and context appropriate, 
mid-scale multi-family structures. The intent of Established Neighborhood is to allow a mix of existing 
and new housing of different building types, along with non-residential uses that are compatible with 
the neighborhood such as a corner store, but not to convert existing homes constructed for single-
family use into multiple units. City records show that this house has been used for single-family 

46



purposes since at least mid-1980s. Therefore, staff believes this proposed Zoning Map Amendment is 
not consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, as required by Section 66.1001(3) of Wisconsin Statutes.  
Also, in the related situation where a residential building originally designed and built as one dwelling 
unit was later converted into a multiple dwelling unit building, but then loses its legal non-conforming 
status, staff generally does not support its reestablishment as a multiple dwelling building, but does 
generally support allowing residential buildings that were originally designed and built with multiple 
dwelling units by right, which is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Findings of Fact:  Based on Section 2-304 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan Commission is required to 
make a recommendation based on the following considerations: 
 

1. The existing use of property within the general area of the subject property. 
The subject property and all surrounding properties are zoned R-1B. The existing single-family 
residential use of the property is compatible in this area. 

  
2. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the subject property.  

The proposed R-3, Low-Density Multifamily Residential, classification is not consistent with the 
surrounding single-family district and is not compatible with the use of the property.  

 
3. The suitability of the subject property for the uses permitted under the existing zoning 

classification.  
Under the current R-1B zoning district classification, single family residential buildings such as 
this are permitted.  The subject property is suitable for single-family use.  
 

4. The trend of development and zoning map amendments in the general area of the subject 
property. 
This area of the city is fully developed, and there have been no recent Zoning Map 
Amendments in the area.  
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends denial of a Zoning Map Amendment to 
change the zoning district classification from R-1B, Single-Family Residential District to R-3, Low-
Density Multifamily Residential District, for the property located at 423 St. Lawrence Avenue. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  Zoning Map, Application, Public Notice, and Mailing List. 
 

47



 

City of Beloit Zoning Map 
 

  
  

48



 
49



 
50



 

 
 

51



 

 
Owner Owner Address 
Andres Casique 718 Vine St, Beloit, WI 
Andrew Milner Rentals, LLC PO Box 1161, Beloit, WI 
Cabin Fever Enterprise, LLC PO Box 861, Beloit, WI 
City of Beloit, Inc. 100 State St, Beloit, WI 
Claire L. Earhart 403 Saint Lawrence Ave, Beloit, WI 
Duane A. Blakeman 419 Saint Lawrence Ave, Beloit, WI 
Gerardo Flores 716 Oak St, Beloit, WI 
Gruber Homes, LLC 207 W Cook St, Portage, WI 
Gruber Homes, LLC 207 W Cook St, Portage, WI 
Havenwood Holdings, LLC 2547 N Burdick Rd, Janesville, WI 
Jaime Flores-Torres 722 Oak St, Beloit, WI 
Joseph P. Wall W7947 Town Hall Rd, Sharon, WI 
Karla K. Prince 414 Saint Lawrence Ave, Beloit, WI 
Khalid M. Abdelrahem 411 Saint Lawrence Ave, Beloit, WI 
Lisa Wells 502 Saint Lawrence Ave, Beloit, WI 
Omar A. Munoz 734 Vine St, Beloit, WI 
Pearl M. Marshall 4323 Eberly Ave, Brookfield, IL 
Richard E. Nelson 2243 N Pow Wow Trl, Beloit, WI 
Tarcila Castro 723 Oak St, Beloit, WI 
The Apostolic Assembly of Faith of Jesus Christ, Inc. 725 Oak St, Beloit, WI 
Theresa Mullvain 410 Saint Lawrence Ave, Beloit, WI 
Vivian Fields 422 Saint Lawrence Ave, Beloit, WI 

52



 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 3860 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE 

ZONING DISTRICT MAP OF THE CITY OF BELOIT 
 

The City Council of the City of Beloit, Rock County, Wisconsin do ordain as follows: 

Section 1. The Zoning District Map of the City of Beloit, mentioned in the Zoning Code, Chapter 
19 of the Code of General Ordinances of the City of Beloit, is amended as follows: 

The following described land is hereby changed from R-1B, Single-Family Residential District to R-3, Low-
Density Multifamily Residential District: 
 

LOT 15, BLOCK 7, WALKER’S ADDITION TO THE CITY OF BELOIT, ROCK COUNTY, WISCONSIN. 
A/K/A 423 ST. LAWRENCE AVENUE. 

Section 2.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force upon its passage and publication. 

Adopted this ____ day of ___________, 2025. 

 
      City Council of the City of Beloit 
 
 
      ________________________________________ 
      Kevin D. Leavy, Council President 
 
Attest: 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Marcy J Granger, City Clerk-Treasurer 

 

Published this ____ day of _________, 2025 

Effective this ____ day of _________, 2025 

01-611100-5231-  

 

53



  

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 
Plan Commission Meeting Date:  December 18, 2024 

Agenda Item:  3.f. 

File Number:  SOE-2024-01 

 
General Information 

Applicant:  Randy Benish  
Owner:  Mercy Hospital  
Address/Location:  Mercyhealth Beloit, 2825 Prairie Avenue 
Applicant’s Request: Randy Benish, on behalf of Mercy Hospital, has submitted a request for 
exceptions to the following sections of the Outdoor Sign Regulations for the property located at 
2825 Prairie Avenue: Section 30.09 to exceed the maximum allowable sign area on the same 
premises; to Section 30.10 to exceed the maximum sign height in a nonresidential zoning district; 
to Section 30.35(2)(c) to exceed the maximum square footage of a primary on-premises sign; and 
to Section 30.43(2)(c) to allow secondary wall signs larger than 10% of the primary on-premises 
sign. 
 
Staff Analysis 

Existing Conditions: Mercyhealth Beloit is located on the east side of Prairie Avenue between 
Huebbe Parkway and Hart Road. The building is undergoing a building addition to add emergency 
services to the existing medical office use.   
 
For properties with C-2 zoning, the maximum sign area is calculated as twice the street frontage, 
which in this case equals 658.14 square feet. Mercyhealth Beloit is proposing a total of 814.8 
square feet of signage, or 156.66 square feet more than the total allowed by code. Additionally, 
the applicant is proposing that six of the on-premises signs exceed the sign area allowed by code, 
and one of the signs exceed the sign height allowed by code. 
 
On-Premises, Sign Area Bonuses that are applicable: The maximum on-premises sign areas may 
be increased if the signage meets one or more of the following:  
 

 If the on-premises sign is a freestanding sign, other than a pole sign, the maximum 
allowed sign area of the freestanding sign may be increased by an additional 10 percent 
if the sign is in a landscaped area where there is a minimum of 2 square feet of landscaping 
for each square foot of sign area.  

o This would bring the maximum allowed sign area of the Primary On-Premise 
freestanding sign to 165 square feet. 

 

 If the on-premises sign is an outdoor wall sign, the maximum allowed sign area of the wall 
sign may by an additional 10 percent if the wall sign consists of individual letters mounted 
directly on the face of a building.  

54



  

o This would bring the allowance for each secondary wall sign area to 18.2 square 
feet.  
 

 If the on-premises sign is an outdoor wall sign, the maximum allowed sign area may be 
increased by up to 20% if the wall sign is set back between 160 and 214 feet from the 
front lot line. 

o The wall signs are setback: 
 On the north elevation 182 square feet from the front property line. 
 On the west elevation 171 square feet from the front property line.  
 On the south elevation 161 square feet from the front property line.  

 
o This would bring the allowance for the secondary wall signs to 21.8 square feet.  

 
The Outdoor Sign Ordinance defines height as the distance measured vertically to the highest 
point of an outdoor sign from grade and defines sign face as the portion of a sign upon which a 
message is displayed by graphics, symbols, insignias, logos, pictures or other means, including 
any background color, border, frame, trim or other material which is an integral part of the sign. 
"Sign face" does not include a sign structure. "Sign face" includes both sides of a double-faced 
sign. 
 

Exception Request Details:   

Sign Description Sign Type 
Square Feet of 

Sign Face 
Proposed 

Square 
Feet of 

Sign Face 
Allowed 

with 
Bonuses 

Square 
Feet 

Overage 
(Exception 
Request) 

MD 

Double Sided Ground 
Mounted – Mercyhealth 
Logo, Emergency, Clinic, 

and Urgent Care 

Primary 435 165 270 

CL.1 
West Wall -Mercyhealth 

Logo 
Secondary 64.3 18.2 46.1 

CB.1 
West Wall -Clinic/Urgent 

Care 
Secondary 20 18.2 1.8 

CL.2 West Wall -Emergency Secondary 87.9 18.2 69.7 

CL.3 North Wall -Emergency Secondary 156.2 21.8 134.4 

CL.4 South Wall -Emergency Secondary 39 21.8 17.2 

 

 
The applicant is proposing one ground sign, five secondary wall signs and five directional signs.  
The proposed directional signs meet code; however, none of the five wall signs in the table above 
nor the ground sign do.  Specifically, the applicant is requesting approval for a primary ground 
sign with a sign face of 435 square feet and a height of 25 feet. This request deviates from the 
maximum allowable size of 165 square feet for the sign face and a height of 20 feet. Additionally, 
the applicant is requesting an exception for five of the secondary wall signs located on three 
building elevations, ranging in size from 20 square feet to 156.2 square feet. This is a deviation 
from the maximum allowance of 21.8 square feet. 

55



  

Applicant’s Hardship Argument:   
The applicant has stated that the maximum on-premises sign allowance does not provide 
adequate visibility for signage, which poses a safety hazard, for emergency healthcare situations. 
 
Exception Standards:  Section 30.48(2) of the Sign Ordinance outlines standards for granting an 
exception.  The Ordinance states that the Plan Commission may grant an exception if it 
determines that: 

a. Compliance with the strict letter of the Sign Ordinance would create an economic hardship 
by either unreasonably restricting an on-premises sign owner from advertising a business 
or rendering conformity with such regulations unnecessarily burdensome upon an owner 
of an on-premises sign. 
 The site has no topographical challenges or obstructions that would limit the visibility 

of compliant signage. The proposed signage—totaling 802.4 square feet, including a 
double-sided 25-foot-tall, 435-square-foot freestanding sign for a two-story building 
that is little more than 26 feet tall—is excessive and far exceeds what is necessary for 
effective communication. The allowable signage area, as outlined in the ordinance, 
provides ample capacity to advertise without overwhelming the site or its 
surroundings. Furthermore, other businesses within the same zoning district operate 
effectively within these limits. 
 

b. The hardship is not self-created. 
 The request for increased signage stems from the applicant’s decision to add 

emergency services, which does not constitute a hardship caused by the ordinance 
itself. Adequate signage can be achieved within the current regulations, ensuring 
visibility and communication for the new use of the property without requiring 
excessive deviations. Other emergency services in the City as well as those of the 
applicant in other communities such as Janesville communicate those services 
effectively with smaller signage. 

 
c. The exception will not undermine the purpose of the Sign Ordinance or the public interest. 

 The proposed signage is incompatible with the scale and character of the surrounding 
area. The ordinance seeks to maintain visual harmony within zoning districts, and the 
proposed signage would detract from the overall aesthetic appeal of the area by 
introducing disproportionate and overly prominent features. 

 The applicant’s reliance on MDOT and ISA standards for visibility fails to account for 
the local context and scale of the site. Visibility can be achieved within the ordinance's 
current limits through thoughtful design and placement, ensuring public safety and 
effective wayfinding without compromising the ordinance’s goals.  
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends denial of an exception to Section 30.09 
of the Outdoor Sign Regulations to exceed the maximum allowable sign area on the same 
premises; to Section 30.10 of the Outdoor Sign Regulations to exceed the maximum sign height 
in a nonresidential zoning district; to Section 30.35(2)(c) of the Outdoor Sign Regulations to 
exceed the maximum square footage of a primary on-premises sign; and to Section 30.43(2)(c) 
of the Outdoor Sign Regulations to allow secondary wall signs larger than 10% of the primary on-

56



  

premises sign for the property located at 2825 Prairie Avenue, based on the above standards for 
granting an exception. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  Site Diagram, Sign Renderings, Application, Public Notice, and Resolution.

57



  

LOCATION MAP 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

58



  
 

59



  

Sign Location Diagram 

60



  

 
 

 

   

       

61



  
62



  
63



  
64



  
65



  

*Not a part of the exception request* 

66



  

*Not a part of the exception request* 

67



  

 
 
 
 *Not a part of the exception request* 

68



  
69



  
70



  
71



  
72



  
73



  
74



  
75



  
76



  
77



  
78



  
79



  
80



  
81



  

 

82



  

 

 
Beloit Realty, LLC 
1905 W Hart Rd 
Beloit, WI 53511 

 
Beloit Memorial Hospital 

1969 W Hart Rd 
Beloit, WI 53511 

 

 
Beloit Health Systems, Inc 

1969 W Hart Rd 
Beloit, WI 53511 

 

83



 

 
RESOLUTION 2024-035 

 
APPROVING AN EXCEPTION TO SECTIONS 30.09, 30.10, 30.35(2)(C), AND  
30.40(2)(C) OF THE OUTDOOR SIGN REGULATIONS FOR THE PROPERTY  

LOCATED AT 2825 PRAIRIE AVENUE 
 

WHEREAS, the application of Randy Benish, on behalf of Mercy Hospital for an exception to 
Section 30.09 to exceed the maximum allowable sign area on the same premises; to Section 30.10 to 
exceed the maximum sign height in a nonresidential zoning district; to Section 30.35(2)(c) to exceed the 
maximum square footage of a primary on-premises sign; and to Section 30.43(2)(c) to allow secondary 
wall signs larger than 10% of the primary on-premises sign. for the property located at 2825 Prairie 
Avenue, having been considered by the Plan Commission of the City of Beloit, Wisconsin at a public 
hearing held for that purpose; and  

 
WHEREAS, the application as submitted meets the criteria for granting an exception as required 

by Section 30.48 of the Sign Ordinance. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, that the Plan Commission of the City of Beloit, Rock 
County, Wisconsin does hereby approve an exception to Section 30.09 to exceed the maximum allowable 
sign area on the same premises; to Section 30.10 to exceed the maximum sign height in a nonresidential 
zoning district; to Section 30.35(2)(c) to exceed the maximum square footage of a primary on-premises 
sign; and to Section 30.43(2)(c) to allow secondary wall signs larger than 10% of the primary on-premises 
sign. for the property located at 2825 Prairie Avenue in the City of Beloit, for the following described 
premises: 
 

LOT 2 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP DOCUMENT NUMBER 823186 IN VOLUME 4, PAGES 
208-209 OF THE CERTIFIED SURVEY MAPS OF ROCK COUNTY, LOCATED IN THE CITY OF 
BELOIT, ROCK COUNTY, WISCONSIN (A/K/A 2825 PRAIRIE AVENUE). SAID PARCEL 
CONTAINS 2.15 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 

 
Adopted this 18th day of December, 2024. 

 
 PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 
   
 Mike Ramsden, Chairperson 
ATTEST: 
 
 
  
Julie Christensen 
Community Development Director 

84



REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Meeting Date:  December 18, 2024 

Agenda Item:  4.a. 

File Number:  CSM-2024-21 

General Information 

Applicant Luke E. Madson Revocable Trust 
Owner: City of Beloit 
Address/Location:  1452 Townhall Road   
Jurisdiction: City of Beloit  
Applicant’s Request: Approval of a One-lot Certified Survey Map (CSM)  

Staff Analysis 

Proposed Land Division: The purpose of the proposed CSM is to create a parcel for a planned lift 
station to serve the Eagles Ridge Remainder Subdivision and surrounding areas, that currently 
cannot be developed on City sewer.  The proposed Lot 1 is 1.314 acres and is located at the 
northwest corner of Colley Road and Townhall Road.  The size, location and configuration of the 
proposed lot has been reviewed by Water Resources and Engineering staff and meets the City’s 
needs for the planned lift station.  It also accommodates a potential future realignment of 
Townhall Road to eliminate the jog between the north and south legs of the road. 

Surrounding Land Use and Zoning:  To the north and west of the proposed lift station parcel is 
vacant land in the City that is part of the planned Eagles Ridge Remainder Subdivision which is 
zoned R-1A, Single Family Residential District.  To the west is vacant land in the City zoned DH, 
Development Holding District.  To the south is an electrical substation located on an SP, Special 
Purpose District zoned parcel, a vacant R-R, Rural Residential District zoned parcel to the west of 
the substation, and a larger A-E, Exclusive Agricultural District zoned parcel, all in the Town of 
Turtle.

Review Agent Comments:  The proposed CSM was distributed to the Review Agents.  There were 
no further comments on the proposed CSM. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of the attached one-lot CSM 
located at 1452 Townhall Road in the City of Beloit, subject to the following conditions: 

1. The final CSM shall be recorded with the Rock County Register of Deeds within one year 
of approval and a copy provided to the Planning and Building Services Division. 

ATTACHMENTS:  Location Map, Certified Survey Map and Application.

85



LOCATION MAP

86



87



88



89



90



RESOLUTION 2024-033 

APPROVING A ONE-LOT CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP FOR THE PROPERTY  
LOCATED 1452 TOWNHALL ROAD IN THE CITY OF BELOIT 

WHEREAS, Section 12.05(1)b of Chapter 12 of the Code of General Ordinances of the City of Beloit 
entitled “Subdivision and Official Map Ordinance” authorizes the City Plan Commission of the City of Beloit 
to approve, conditionally approve, or reject any minor subdivision of land within the jurisdiction of the 
City; and 

WHEREAS, the attached one-lot Certified Survey Map at 1452 Townhall Road in the City of Beloit, 
containing 1.314 acres, more or less, is located within the jurisdiction of the City of Beloit; and 

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission of the City of Beloit has reviewed the attached one-lot 
Certified Survey Map, which pertains to the following described land: 

A RESURVEY OF PART OF LOT 1, C.S.M. V. 1 P. 125, BEING PART OF THE SE ¼ OF THE SE ¼ OF 
SECTION 28, T 1 N, R 13 E, CITY OF BELOIT, ROCK COUNTY, WISCONSIN BOUNDED AND  DESCRIBED 
AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 28; THENCE N 
88°32’41” W 110.57 FEET ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SOUTHEAST ¼; THENCE N 0°00’00” E 
40.01 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF COLLEY ROAD AND THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION; THENCE N 88°32’41” W  338.98 FEET ALONG THE NORTH 
RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF COLLEY ROAD; THENCE N 01°27’18 E 141.83 FEET; THENCE N 90°00’00” E 
403.45 FEET; THENCE S 0°41’41 E 82.13 FEET ALONG THE WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 
TOWNHALL ROAD; THENCE S 45°22’52 W 97.19 ALONG THE NORTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY 
LINE OF SAID TOWNHALL ROAD TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 57,250 SQUARE FEET 
OR 1.314 ACRES. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Plan Commission of the City of Beloit does hereby 
conditionally approve the attached one-lot Certified Survey Map for the property located at 1452 
Townhall Road in the City of Beloit, subject to the following condition: 

1. The final CSM shall be recorded with the Rock County Register of Deeds within one year of 
approval and a copy provided to the Planning and Building Services Division. 

Adopted this 18th day of December 2024. 

Plan Commission 

Mike Ramsden, Chairperson 

ATTEST: 

Julie Christensen, 
Community Development Director

91


	Plan Commission Agenda
	2024-1166 - Attachment
	2024-1059 - Attachment
	2024-1170 - Attachment
	2024-1172 - Attachment
	2024-1168 - Attachment
	2024-1169 - Attachment
	2024-1171 - Attachment

